1982

Thomas C. Mabey and Louise S. Mabey v. Kay Peterson Construction Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action involving opposing claims by the Plaintiffs Thomas C. and Louise S. MabeY and the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. against each other. Plaintiffs Mabeys' claims were for damages resulting from breach of a written contract and breach of warranty in connection with the construction and sale of a home. Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. also claimed damages for breach of contract and included an additional request for equitable relief in the form of contract reformation.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court. At the conclusions of trial, the court found that the written contract between the Plaintiffs and Defendant was formed under a mutual mistake of fact. Having so found, the court, rather than reforming the contract to conform to the parties intention and understanding, simply entered judgment in favor of both the Plaintiffs Thomas C. and Louise S. Mabey and the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. The court also entered judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs on their claims for breach of warranty. From the court's judgment this appeal has been taken by the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of that portion of the judgment entered in favor of the Plaintiffs Thomas C. and Louise S. Mabey, together with modification of that portion of the judgment entered in favor of the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. to conform said portion of the judgment to the undisputed evidence adduced at trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The central issue in this case concerns the preparation and execution of a written contract (Pl.Ex.C) between the Plaintiffs Thomas C. and Louise S. Mabey (Respondents herein) and the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. (Appellant herein) for the purchase of a home constructed by the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc. For

convenience the parties will be hereafter referred to as "Mabeys" (or individually as "Tom Mabey", "Louise Mabey") and "Kay Peterson Construction" or "the Construction Company." The court properly and correctly found at the close of the trial proceedings that there had been a mutual mistake of fact in the formation and preparation of the written contract (T-132). However, rather than reform the contract so as to reflect the parties' actual intentions, the court chose instead to award damages to the Mabeys apparently for alleged breach of the contract by Kay Peterson Construction and to award damages to Kay Peterson Construction allegedly resulting from the mutual mistake.

About three or four months prior to November, 1979 the Mabeys and Mr. Kay Peterson on behalf of Kay Peterson Construction discussed the possibility of building a home on Lot 1 Indian Springs Estates, the property which is the subject of this litigation (T-40). The Mabeys understood that Kay Peterson Construction would build a house on that lot and if the house met with their approval they would purchase it (T-43,44).

Sometime thereafter in the fall of 1979, Kay Peterson Construction began construction of a home on Lot 1 (T-40). The construction loan for the home was obtained by Kay Peterson Construction from Mountain West Savings and Loan. The lot itself was owned at the time by a corporation named Mountain West Development. There was also an underlying mortgage on the lot in favor of Zion's Mortgage Corporation.

When the construction loan commitment was secured a check in the amount of \$18,500 was drawn from the construction loan fund to obtain a release from Zion's Mortgage on behalf of Mountain West Development. Title to the lot was then put up as security on the construction loan (T-86,87,117,122). Mountain West Development eventually received \$27,000 for the lot, the money being disbursed through Mountain West Savings & Loan and distributed partly to Mountain West Development with the remainder to Zion's Mortgage as described above (T-86,87).

The plans to be followed in the construction of the home were submitted to Kay Peterson Construction by Tom Mabey. Mr. Mabey had acquired the plans out of a plan book and had made substantial modifications and changes therein before he submitted them to the Construction Company (T-35,41). During the course of construction of the home, the Mabeys added their input. The Mabeys sub-contracted and paid separately for the plumbing (T-25,46); they installed the insulation themselves, took care of clean up and paid separately for the security system and some railing which were included in the home (T-25); they were consulted by Kay Peterson Construction concerning the orientation of siding on the exterior surface of the home (T-47), the location of a basement window (T-48), the addition of a fireplace (T-49), the framing of the bathtub and the facing installed around it (T-50,51). The Mabeys selected the color of paint, the location and design of cabinets and light fixtures and the carpeting for the home (T-37). They also obtained a commitment from Mountain West Savings and

Loan for a loan to purchase the home (T-14,Pl.Ex.A). Notwithstanding this not inconsiderable involvement in the construction phase of the home, it was the Mabey's understanding that they were neither committed nor obligated in any way to purchase the home once it was built (T-53).

Around the middle of March, 1980, construction was nearing completion. In order to facilitate the financing of the home through Mountain West Savings and Loan, Tom Mabey prepared in his own hand a written contract on a standard Earnest Money Receipt form (Pl.Ex.C, T-58). For convenience this contract will be referred to hereinafter as "the Earnest Money Contract." In connection with the preparation of the Earnest Money Contract, Tom Mabey asked Mr. Kay Peterson, the president of Kay Peterson Construction, for an estimate of the cost of the completed project (T-58). In turn, Mr. Peterson asked the company bookkeeper, Mrs. Squires, to prepare the estimate from the Construction Company's records (T-97,115). Mrs. Squires prepared the estimate from the construction draw records of Kay Peterson Construction and as to unfinished items, from the supplier's bids or the original cost estimates (T-97, 103). Mrs. Squires' estimate sheet became the document referred to on the face of the Earnest Money Contract as the "Projected Cost Estimate", Exhibit A. This document was incorporated into and became the third page attached to the Earnest Money Contract (Pl.Ex.C,T-95,96).

The "Projected Cost Estimate" showed \$77,565.00 as the amount of

the "Loan Disbursed to Date," unpaid bills of \$12,734.96 and estimated completion costs on the remaining items of \$43,768.44 to arrive at an overall cost estimate for the construction of \$134,068.40. This figure included an item on line 37 designated "Lot Payoff - \$9,000.00." Mrs. Squires, a reliable and experienced employee, gave the estimate to Mr. Peterson who, in turn, delivered it to Mr. Mabey (T-58,115). Upon receipt of the estimate, Mr. Mabey prepared the first page of the Earnest Money Contract (on the standard Earnest Money Receipt form), and set the total cost figure at \$136,000 to accord Mr. Peterson approximately a \$2,000 "buffer" against cost-overruns on the estimated figures (T-27,58,63).

The Earnest Money Contract provided in part that it covered only the home and the improvements which had been constructed, and not the lot itself (Pl.Ex.C,T-119). The lot was acquired by the Mabeys through a purchase and trade with a third party. In other words, the lot was purchased by a Mr. Jerry James, who then traded the lot to the Mabeys in exchange for interests of the Mabeys in other property (Pl.Ex.B;T-18,19,116). This exchange took place because the Mabeys believed they would not be able to afford to buy the home if the cost of the lot (\$27,000) (T-61,86,87) were included in the purchase price and had to be financed also (T-18,19,39).

During his review of the cost estimate sheet prepared by Mrs. Squires and in his discussions with Mr. Peterson, Tom Mabey was concerned that the lot price of \$27,000.00 might be incorrectly included in the total cost

shown on the sheet (T-60). He placed a question mark adjacent to line 37 which read "lot payoff: \$9,000," wrote in the margin directly above that "was remaining \$18,000 . . ." and drew an arrow to the figure on line 1 of the sheet which read "Loan Disbursed to Date: 3/5/80" (T-60, 61). He asked Mr. Peterson whether the \$18,000 balance (i.e., the difference between the "lot pay off" figure of \$9,000 and the \$27,000 lot price) was included in the "Loan Disbursed to Date 3/5/80" figure of \$77,565 (T-60). Both Mr. Mabey and Mr. Peterson were aware that the underlying mortgage on the lot in favor of Zion's Mortgage had been satisfied by an advance in the approximate sum of \$18,000 from the construction loan proceeds (T-60,61). Although Mr. Peterson had not supervised the preparation of the cost estimate or discussed it with his bookkeeper, he honestly believed the advance to be covered in that figure and told Mr. Mabey that it was so included (T-61). On this basis, and since the Earnest Money Contract was to cover the home only, the parties agreed to reduce the price shown on the Earnest Money Contract by \$27,000, the full price of the lot, rather than only by \$9,000, the lot payoff figure shown on line 37 of the cost estimate (T-61,62). The concluding paragraph of the Earnest Money Contract was then altered by Tom Mabey to read as follows:

The purchase price is based on all costs relative to the construction of the dwelling as per plans and specifications plus an \$8,500.00 Seller's profit. However, the total cost shall be based on the projected cost estimate, Exhibit A, attached and hereby made a part of this agreement, and in no event shall said total cost exceed ~~\$136,000~~ \$109,000.00

unless agreed upon in writing by both Buyer and Seller.

The reduction of the price term was initialled by the parties and reflected the deletion of the price of the lot, which both parties believed to be included in the cost estimate attached to the Earnest Money Contract as Exhibit A (T-62,116).

In fact, Mrs. Squires omitted to include the additional \$18,000 for the lot in computing the figures shown on the "Projected Cost Estimate" (T-118). Mr. Peterson believed this figure was included, as did Mr. Mabey, at the time the contract was executed. It was precisely because of this mutual understanding that the Earnest Money Contract price was reduced by \$27,000 instead of \$9,000 (T-62,118). When Mr. Peterson discovered the mistake, he immediately contacted Tom Mabey and brought it to his attention. However, the latter refused to rescind or correct the contract and arranged to close the loan transaction with his bank based on the figures shown on the Earnest Money Contract (T-27,28,118).

When the funds acquired from the bank based on the mistaken contract purchase price had been distributed, Kay Peterson Construction was unable to pay all of the suppliers and sub-contractors on the home. These materialmen and sub-contractors then filed liens against the Mabey's home and initiated actions for payment (T-28;R-46 through R-140). When the Mabeys learned of the outstanding and unpaid liens, they brought the action in the lower court captioned Thomas C. Mabey and Louise S. Mabey v. Kay Peterson Construction Company, Inc., Civil No. 1-28199 to recover against

Kay Peterson Construction. The lien claims on the home were consolidated in the action styled Wasatch Cabinet Co., Inc. v. Kay Peterson, et al., Civil No. 2-28838. The Mabeys then arranged to compromise and satisfy the outstanding liens and borrowed funds from Zion's Bank to make payment thereon (T-28,29;Pl.Ex.G). By the time of trial all liens had been settled and the only claims outstanding in the Wasatch action were cross-claims between the Mabeys and Kay Peterson Construction which were identical to the complaint and counterclaims contained in the Mabey v. Kay Peterson Construction action. Therefore, the two cases were consolidated for trial (R-26,175).

At the conclusion of the trial, the court ruled that the Earnest Money Contract had been formed under a mutual mistake of fact. The court then awarded judgment to Kay Peterson Construction based on the amount originally demanded in the counterclaim filed on behalf of Kay Peterson Construction. The court also awarded judgment to the Mabeys for the amount expended by them to satisfy the unpaid lien claims, together with damages for the interest they paid on the loan and attorney's fees (T-132,133).

The court also awarded damages in the sum of \$5,400.00 to the Mabeys for the alleged failure of Kay Peterson Construction to complete construction on certain items in the home in a quality workman-like manner (T-132). While no detailed list of defects was contained in the complaint, the complaint did allege generally defects in workmanship and request an award of damages in the sum of \$5,440.00 (R-2).

At trial Mabeys introduced two written exhibits in support of the claim for defects. The first was a letter dated October 8, 1980 from Tom Mabey to his attorney, Mr. Diument, listing seventeen (17) claimed defects in construction (Pl.Ex.H). The second was dated November 4, 1981 and styled "Correction Report." This document contained a list of only ten (10) claimed defects in construction (Pl.Ex.I). Tom Mabey testified that there were now no items other than those shown on the "Correction Report" (Pl.Ex.I) which he alleged were deficient (T-31,32). Mr. Diument also represented to the court that his client was only claiming the right to recover on the ten (10) alleged defects in the inspection report, not the seventeen (17) listed in the earlier letter (T-67). The court accepted the exhibits for informational purposes only and not as proof of the truth of what was recited therein (T-73).

In chambers and before trial, counsel for Mabeys had represented to the court that the Utah State Department of Contractors had found at a hearing conducted just several days before trial on November 25, 1981 some workmanship in the home to be defective and that the Department had issued an order to that effect which required the defects to be corrected. The court apparently believed this to constitute a prior adjudication of these claims, notwithstanding the fact that counsel for Kay Peterson Construction advised the court that neither he nor his client were aware of any such order by the Department of Contractors. During the trial, the court alluded to this earlier meeting in chambers and proceeded to sustain evidentiary objections and limit the scope of

examination related to the alleged defects (T-31,66).

The only evidence submitted at trial concerning the damages resulting from the alleged ten (10) defects was the testimony of Tom Mabey who stated that he estimated the total cost to repair the alleged defects, based upon the cost of materials and an hourly charge of \$17.00 per hour, would be \$5,400.00 (T-34,35). No additional details as to the breakdown or manner of calculation were provided.

Following the trial counsel for Kay Peterson Construction submitted objections to the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law prepared by Mr. Diument. Attached thereto was an affidavit from Steven Schwendimen of the Attorney General's office which set forth that the "Inspection Report" (Pl.Ex.I) was nothing more than a form of complaint to which Kay Peterson Construction was required to respond. No determination relative to the validity or accuracy of the alleged defects contained therein had been made (R-204).

Following a hearing on the objections, the court signed the findings of fact and conclusions of law and the judgment as proposed without further comment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I:

HAVING CORRECTLY AND PROPERLY FOUND THAT
THERE WAS A MUTUAL MISTAKE OF FACT IN THE FORMATION
AND EXECUTION OF THE EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT,
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN THE FOLLOWING PARTICULARS:

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENTER JUDGMENT REFORMING

THE CONTRACT TO CONFORM TO THE INTENTION AND UNDERSTANDING OF
THE PARTIES.

It has long been the law in Utah that upon finding that a written instrument, due to a mutual mistake of fact, does not reflect the actual intention or understanding of the parties, the court will reform the instrument and enter judgment according to the terms of the instrument as reformed. The rule of law was applied by this court in Intermountain Farmer's Association v. Peart, 30 Utah 2d 201, 515 P.2d 614 (1973) to reform a deed from the plaintiff to the defendants and decrease the amount of property conveyed from five acres to two acres upon a showing that the plaintiff intended to convey only two acres and the defendants expected to receive no more.

The rule was also found applicable in Jensen v. Manilla Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, 565 P.2d 63 (Utah, 1977) to increase the amount of property sold under a real estate contract when it was established at trial that the purchaser, Jensen, thought he was buying and the real estate agent for the seller, the Church, thought he was selling all of a certain parcel of property located between two existing fence lines, even though the contract for sale failed to include in its description the south 32 feet of the property and this same 32 foot parcel had been subsequently conveyed by the Church to a third party. In affirming the reformation of the contract by the trial court, this court cited with approval from Powell on Real Property:

The power to obtain reformation of a written instrument exists when it can be satisfactorily proved (1) that the instrument as made failed to conform to what both parties intended; . . .

6 Powell on Real Property §903 at 268.8-.10(1977)
Id at 64

This court also noted that parol evidence is specifically admissible to show that a writing does not conform to the intent of the parties, Id at 64; cf: Sine v. Harper, 118 Utah 415, 222 P.2d 571 (1951), Janke v. Beckstead, 8 Utah 2d 247, 332 P.2d 933 (1958).

The rule of reformation has been extended by this court to reform not only specific terms of written instruments as demonstrated above, but also the entire character of a written document or series of documents. In Kesler v. Rogers, 542 P.2d 354 (Utah, 1975) the plaintiff, Kesler, was the purchaser on contract of a 480 acre tract of land and a nearby 318 acre tract, the contract for sale of which smaller tract included cattle and other personal property. Conveyances from the sellers for all of the real and personal property were held in escrow, pending performance by Kesler. Kesler was then approached by one Kershaw, who wished to acquire only the 480 acre parcel and after some negotiation Kesler and Kershaw entered into an agreement to sell the 480 acre tract. Since the documents evidencing title to the property were held in an escrow under Kesler's contract of purchase, the parties agreed that Kesler would assure marketable title in the 480 acre parcel by giving Kershaw a security interest in all the escrow property, which security interest would terminate

as to the 318 acre parcel and personal property upon transfer of title to the 480 acre parcel. By mistake the documents used to facilitate the transaction recited simply that all the property was conveyed to Kershaw. When Kershaw subsequently sold all of his holdings to the defendant Rogers, the documents evidencing the sales transaction between Kershaw and Rogers were not prepared to reflect the understanding between Kesler and Kershaw concerning the security interest arrangement; instead the documents perpetuated the erroneously prepared language from the earlier transaction. Shortly after the sale was completed, Rogers, with the aid of several other people, siezed a number of cows from Kesler, claiming ownership under the written agreements with Kershaw.

In affirming the trial court's judgment, which reformed the documents of conveyance into documents reflecting the intended security agreement and awarded Kesler damages against Rogers for the wrongful taking of his cattle, this court recited the basic rule for reformation of instruments:

. . . [A]s between the immediate parties, where the terms of the written instrument are mistaken in that they do not show what the true intent and agreement between the parties was, it may be reformed to show that intent.

Id at 358

The clear and undisputed facts adduced at the trial of this action establish, and the trial judge properly ruled, that the price term in the written contract between the Plaintiffs Mabey and the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction (the Earnest Money Contract - Pl.Ex.C) was erroneously formulated under a mutual mistake of fact. The parties intended that

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