1982

Thomas C. Mabey and Louise S. Mabey v. Kay Peterson Construction Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED PLAINTIFFS DAMAGES FOR DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO COMPLETE CONSTRUCTION IN A QUALITY WORKMANLIKE MANNER.

Mr. Mabey testified that he is a professional and licensed civil engineer. He testified further to experience in residential construction including prior projects involving the defendant (T-13-14), and experience in analysis of management cost evaluation (T-32). His direct involvement in the construction of this home is well documented in the record and testimony at trial, and his familiarity with the home is of course obvious as owner and occupant since completion.

Mr. Mabey identified, by reference to a list set forth

on two exhibits (Pl. Ex. H and I), a number of deficiencies and defects he discovered in the home's construction. He further testified that he was familiar with hourly rates of individuals who would be qualified to repair the identified defects, and that he had estimated total costs of repairing said defects based upon hourly rates averaging \$17.00 per hour, some \$8.00 per hour less than the rate Mr. Mabey understood the defendant to charge (T-32-35). Mr. Mabey estimated that total cost of repair would be approximately \$5,400.00.

Defendant did not offer into evidence any rebuttal as to the nature or cause of the defects, nor as to cost of repairing same. Defendant's counsel did object to the qualifications of Mr. Mabey to testify on these issues and was overruled by the Court, presumably on the basis of the credentials and experience already described (T-32-34). Defendant's counsel did cross-examine Mr. Mabey as to particular defects identified (T-68-72).

The testimony of Mr. Mabey, given his credentials, prior experience and direct knowledge of this particular project, constituted competent evidence and established a reasonable basis to support the trial court's findings in this matter. It has long been the policy of this Court to not disturb the findings of the trial court if there is a reasonable basis in evidence to support such findings,

Holman v. Sorenson, 556 P.2d 499, at 500 (Utah 1976). The testimony presented at trial satisfies the standards noted in the authorities cited by defendant (Appellant's Brief, 25-29): Mr. Mabey's testimony did present evidence upon which the trial court could find, with reasonable certainty, both the basis for and amount of damages.

The Utah Supreme Court has previously stated:

Damages are not to be denied simply because they cannot be ascertained with exactness. If a reasonable basis of calculation is afforded, it is sufficient although the result is only approximate. Security Development Company v. Fedco, 23 Utah 2d 306, 462 P.2d 706 (1969).

The evidence presented in the case at bar certainly falls within these parameters, and the trial court's findings are supported by said, un rebutted, testimony and evidence.

The defendant further challenges the sufficiency of evidence on this issue in what is apparently an attack on the credibility of Mr. Mabey's testimony (see Appellant's Brief 29-31), referring to the "suspect and uncertain nature of the testimony presented concerning the amount of claimed damages. . . ." (App. Brief 29) and further asserting that "No evidence of any kind was presented to show the cause of the alleged defects or to connect or link them to the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction." (App. Brief 31). On the contrary, Mr. Mabey, a professional and licensed civil engineer with credentials and

experience noted above and with extensive personal knowledge of this project, testified that there were certain defects and deficiencies in the home's construction, and said testimony was in no way rebutted. Assessment of the credibility of his testimony is a matter entirely within the sound discretion of the trial court and certainly should not be disturbed upon appeal, especially where no rebuttal evidence was presented in the trial court.

The defendant's final challenge to the trial court's findings regarding damages arising out of defects and deficiencies in construction, appears to be an assertion that the trial court was unduly and improperly influenced by representations as to proceedings before the State Department of Contractors and documents presented in respect thereto (App. Brief 32-33). Defendant proffers that the trial court "believed the "Correction Report" (Pl. Ex. I) to be a prior adjudication by the State Board of Contractors for the liability of the Defendant Kay Peterson Construction for repair of the items listed on the report . . ." (App. Brief 32), and further that "the lower court limited the scope of examination and sustained objections to testimony and evidence apparently in reliance on that belief." (App. Brief 32).

The trial court's position in this regard could hardly be more misconstrued. The exchanges between the trial

court and counsel, and the rulings as regards testimony and evidence, referred to in Appellant's Brief pages 32 and 33, considered in context clearly indicate that the trial court's position was that the plaintiffs were precluded from proceeding on any defects other than those identified on plaintiffs Exhibit I and that defendant's counsel was precluded from cross-examination regarding other alleged defects because such defects were not in issue, and that such examination was irrelevant and in the interest of time would not be allowed. The trial court's "belief" as respects the "Correction Report", Plaintiffs' Exhibit I, is most clearly indicated in the trial court's ruling that said exhibit was admitted for "informational" purposes only and not as proof of the substance recited therein (T-73).

In this regard, the trial court did not limit defendant's cross-examination of Mr. Mabey as respects defects identified on the "Correction Report"; nor did the trial court deny admission of evidence or testimony that would rebut the existence of said defects, as there was, indeed, no such testimony or evidence proffered.

The testimony and evidence presented constituted competent evidence and establishes a reasonable basis to support the findings of the trial court as to damages arising from defects in construction, and said findings should be

upheld upon review.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED PLAINTIFF THE COST OF SATISFYING UNPAID LIENS AGAINST THE HOME AND COSTS INCLUDING INTEREST AND A REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE.

The "Purchase Money Contract" specifically provided, in writing, for the recovery of costs and attorney's fees in the event of a breach (Pl. Ex. C, l. 47-48). The trial court found, upon competent and sufficient evidence, that the defendant had breached the contract in two respects: failure to complete construction in a quality workmanlike fashion and the defendant's failure to satisfy obligations owing to subcontractors and materialmen. In respect to the latter, the plaintiffs obtained a loan at current interest rates in order to compromise said claims, and thereby clear their title to the subject property, and in fact did settle claims in excess of \$13,400.00 for the consideration of approximately \$9,737.00. Defendant offered no testimony or evidence rebutting either allegation of breach of contract.

Defendant, however, offers a novel theory to challenge the trial court's judgment granting recovery of the cost of satisfying the unpaid liens, including interest, and a reasonable attorney's fee (see App. Brief 20-25); arguing that defendant was entitled to reformation of the contract,

that consequently plaintiffs failed to tender the total price and therefore defendant's failure to satisfy subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen did not constitute a breach of the contract. Such analysis is fatally flawed in at least two respects.

First, the trial court clearly determined that the defendant did breach the contract in the two respects noted above, and the record reflects that said findings were based on competent, substantial and sufficient evidence. On that basis, and pursuant to the specific terms of the written contract providing for recovery of cost and attorney's fees as against the breaching party, the court was acting properly and within its discretion in awarding plaintiffs such costs, including in this instance the higher interest rate incurred in clearing title, and attorney's fees as were reasonable.

Secondly, as regards defendant's contentions pursuant to a reformed contract, as defendant would have it reformed, prayer for reformation invokes the trial court's equity jurisdiction and thus accords the trial court wide discretion in formulating a just and proper remedy. The trial court did not, pursuant to such equity jurisdiction, relieve the defendant of paying costs and attorney's fees arising out of defendant's failure to complete construction in a quality workmanlike fashion and defendant's failure to satisfy subcontractors and materialmen.

The policy of the Utah Supreme Court, in equity cases, has been often and clearly stated, as in Pagano v. Walker, 539 P.2d 452 (Utah 1975) where, at 454, it is stated that:

. . . due to the advantaged position of the trial court we will review its findings and judgments with considerable indulgence, and will not disagree with and upset them unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or the court has mistaken or misapplied the law applicable thereto.

In all, the trial court's award of costs and attorney's fees was proper and within its discretion, and should not be disturbed upon appeal.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN AWARDING JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT BASED UPON MUTUAL MISTAKE OF FACT.

A. THE ISSUE OF MUTUAL MISTAKE WAS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.

Rule 9(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides "In all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity," has been strictly interpreted and applied in cases where reformation is sought by reason of mutual mistake. Neely v. Kelsch, 600 P.2d 979 (Utah 1979); and Battiston v. American Land And Dev. Co., 607 P.2d 837 (Utah 1980). In Neeley, supra, this Court stated:

In the counterclaim, Kelsch did not set forth with particularity any attack upon the deeds based on mutual mistake. They only generally asserted their ownership. In his opening statement, counsel for Kelsch did mention mistake, but did not ask for an amendment of the pleadings to properly put mistake before the trial court. Therefore, the trial court improperly heard parol evidence intended to modify the deeds and thus should have only examined the face of the deeds in resolving the dispute. Neeley v. Kelsch 600 P.2d 989 (Utah 1979).

The court's analysis in Neeley, supra, is particularly applicable to the case at bar. Defendant herein did make a general claim for reformation in counterclaim (Defendant's Counterclaim, Second Cause of Action, R-15), but nowhere alleged that there was a mutual mistake underlying the execution of the "Purchase Money Contract," and did not plead with particularity circumstances constituting any such mistake. Defendant's counsel did not even mention "mutual mistake" in opening statements and did not move to amend pleadings to aver mutual mistake. During the course of trial plaintiffs' counsel objected to testimony that would alter or contradict the terms of the written agreement (see T-89-93, T-54-55, and T115-116). Defendant's counsel did not, on occasion of said objections, proffer "mutual mistake" as justifying an exception to the parol evidence rule.

At best, defendant offered evidence that might indicate

that defendant had made a mistake in preparing the project's cost estimate, and that said estimate was the basis for negotiating the purchase price. Defendant did not offer clear and convincing evidence that such a unilateral mistake was made, and defendant's counsel did not formally proffer the "mutual mistake" theory for reformation until closing argument. Indeed, very near the end of the trial, plaintiffs' counsel objected to a line of questioning specifically on the ground that that line of questioning was directed toward adding to or contradicting the terms of the written agreement (T-115-116). Again, defendant's counsel did not proffer the mutual mistake exception to the Parol Evidence Rule, and plaintiffs' objection was sustained.

In all, the issue of mutual mistake was not properly before the trial court, indeed it did not even appear to be before the court at all until defendant's closing argument, and therefore the trial court erred in awarding defendant judgment based upon the alleged mutual mistake of fact.

B. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE, BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, THAT THERE HAD BEEN A MUTUAL MISTAKE OF FACT.

In cases where reformation of a written instrument is sought on the basis of a mutual mistake of fact, it is the firmly

established rule that the party alleging reformation based on mutual mistake has "the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that there was a mutual mistake of fact." Hatch v. Bastian, 567 P.2d 1100, 1102 (Utah 1977); Maytime Manor Inc. v. Stakermatic, Inc., 597 P.2d 866, 868 (Utah 1979). In the case at bar the evidence presented at trial at best indicates, and not clearly or convincingly, that the defendant may have erred in preparing the project cost estimate and that negotiations for purchase price were based on that estimate. In the absence of a showing of fraud or inequitable conduct by the other party, and no such conduct is herein in any way indicated, Utah case law clearly states that "unilateral mistake is not a ground for reformation." Ingram v. Forres, 563 P.2d 181 (Utah 1977).

The mistake here, if any, was defendant's and was not mutual; indeed, plaintiffs merely relied on the representations of defendant in two distinct written instruments: First, the written agreement signed by defendant on March 20, 1980, indicating a total cost, including lot, of \$134,068.40 (Pl. Ex. D). Secondly, the "Purchase Money Contract" which on its face shows a total purchase price of \$109,000.00 for the improvements excluding the lot (which was paid for, in the amount of \$27,000.00, by separate transaction), with specific reference to a project cost estimate prepared by the defendant.

C. THE DEFENDANT DID NOT PROVE, BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, THAT THERE HAD BEEN A MISTAKE FOR WHICH THE REMEDY OF REFORMATION WOULD BE PROPER.

The limited circumstances upon which a party may be entitled to the remedy of reformation on the ground of mistake are specifically cited by the Utah Court in Jensen v. Manila Corp. of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 565 P.2d 63 (Utah 1977), at 64, as follows:

The power to obtain the reformation of a written instrument exists when it can be satisfactorily proved (1) that the instrument, as made failed to conform to what both parties intended; or (2) that the claiming party was mistaken as to its actual content and the other party, knowing of this mistake, kept silent; or (3) that the claiming party was mistaken as to actual content because of fraudulent affirmative behavior.

There is no evidence whatsoever that the circumstances in subsection (3) above would apply to the action at bar. The case at bar clearly does not fall within subsection (2) above either, for there is no indication whatsoever, in the record or testimony at trial, that plaintiffs knew of the alleged mistake and kept silent; indeed, the plaintiffs could do no more than rely on the representations of defendant as to the costs defendant had incurred in construction of the home.

Thus, in order for defendant to prevail on the claim for

reformation, it was necessary that the defendant establish, by clear and convincing evidence (See citations in Point III-B above), "that the instrument, as made failed to conform to what both parties intended." Jensen, supra (emphasis added). In this context, the Utah Court also stated therein that "We do not rewrite the contract, we merely allow the writing to be made to conform, to the contract as made." Jensen, supra, at 65.

The irony of defendant's claim on this issue is that defendant does not clearly set forth what it purports to have been the contract as intended; nowhere in the record or in the testimony of any witness at trial, is there support for the position that plaintiffs intended to enter a contract to purchase the home for \$127,000.00, excluding the lot. Nowhere in the record or testimony at trial is there support for the proposition that plaintiffs would have purchased the home, or could have even found financing that was crucial to their being able to purchase the home, if the price of \$127,000.00, excluding lot, had been demanded. In sum, there is no support in the record or testimony, for the proposition that the Mabeys, plaintiffs, intended to enter a contract for the purchase of the home except upon a the specific and written terms set forth in the "Purchase Money Contract," where it set forth a purchase price based upon a total cost not to exceed \$109,000.00.

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